THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

FILED

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

AUG 29 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

John D. McLeod, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate No.: 2017-000270

Shawn Bethea

Appellant

Vs.

South Carolina Law Enforcement Division

Respondent,

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thurmond Brooker, Esq.  
P. O. Box 1450  
Florence, SC 29503-1450  
(843) 679-0056 – telephone  
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. THE ADMINSTRATIVE LAW COURT'S FINDING THAT APPELLANT FAILE TO SATISFY THE REQUIREMENTS FOR A CONCEALED WEAPONS PERMIT UNDER THE LAW ABIDING CITIZENS SELF-DEFENSE ACT OF 1996 IS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION AND ERROR OF LAW BECAUSE APPELLANT'S 1993 CONVICTION FOR CRIMINAL DOMESTIC VIOLENCE IS NOT A MISDEMEANOR CRIME OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE UNDER 18 U.S.C. 922(g) (9); THEREFORE, APPELLANT IS NOT DISQUALIFIED FROM POSSESSION A FIREARM UNDER FEDERAL LAW.
  
2. THE ADMINSTRATIVE LAW COURT'S FINDING THAT APPELLANT FAILE TO SATISFY THE REQUIREMENTS FOR A CONCEALED WEAPONS PERMIT UNDER THE LAW ABIDING CITIZENS SELF-DEFENSE ACT OF 1996 IS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION AND ERROR OF LAW, BECAUSE APPELLANT IS NOT DISQUALIFIED FROM POSSESSION A FIREARM UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2016 Shawn Bethea (hereinafter “Appellant”) submitted an application to the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (hereinafter “Respondent”) for a Concealed Weapons Permit (hereinafter “CWP”) under the Law Abiding Citizens Self-Defense Act of 1996 (hereinafter the “CWP Act”). Respondent issued to Appellant a CWP denial notice letter dated July 1, 2016, deny his application.

Appellant appealed Respondent’s denial by letter dated July 20, 2016 addressed to SLED CWP Denial Appeals. By letter addressed to Appellant dated July 25, 2016, Respondent affirmed its decision denying Appellant’s application for a CWP. Thereafter, Appellant appealed Respondent’s denial of his CWP application to the South Carolina Administrative Law Court (hereinafter “Administrative Law Court”).

A contested case hearing was held before the Administrative Law Court on November 9, 2016. In December 2016 Respondent and Appellant submitted proposed orders to the Administrative Law Court. The Administrative Law Court issued a Final Order dated January 12, 2017, affirming Respondent’s denial of Appellant’s application.

Appellant filed a notice of appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on February 10, 2017.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent denied Appellant’s application for a CWP on belief that Appellant’s May 17, 1993 conviction for misdemeanor Criminal Domestic Violence (hereinafter “CDV”) constituted an unfavorable background check under the CWP Act. Respondent explained in its July 1, 2016 denial letter to Appellant:

Our records indicate that you were convicted on or about May 17, 1993 for "Criminal Domestic Violence". Pursuant to U.S.C. 922(g) (9) this conviction prohibits you from purchase, possession, or transfer of a firearm and ammunition. As such, pursuant to SC Code of laws 23-31-215(B) your concealed weapon application is denied.

(R. p. 98).

The City of Marion Police Department responded to a CDV call at Appellant's home on May 16, 1993. (R. p. 99). Appellant was arrested at the scene and charged with misdemeanor CDV. (Id.) Appellant was released on a cash bond of Two Hundred Forty-eight and 25/100 Dollars (\$248.25). (R. p. 36, lines 20-24 ). On May 17, 1993, the next day, Appellant was found guilty by the Marion Municipal Court in his absence and fined \$248.25 or thirty (30) days in jail. (R. p. 100). The cash bond Appellant posted was forfeited and applied to the fine. (Id.). Appellant never appeared before the court before, during or after his conviction, was never notified of his right to a jury trial, and was never represented by legal counsel. (R. p. 20, lines 10-17 & R. pp. 36-37, lines 10-19).

On appeal before the Administrative Law Court, Respondent's denial of Appellant's application for a CWP was affirmed. The Administrative Law Court reasoned that:

Federal law states that "[i]t shall be unlawful for any person...who has been convicted in any court of a misdemeanor crime of violence." 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9). In this case, Petitioner's criminal background record reflects that he was convicted in South Carolina of Criminal Domestic Violence. Based upon his record and applicable federal law, Petitioner's possession of a firearm would place him in direct violation of federal law. Therefore, Petitioner would not be a "favorable" person to receive a CWP.

(R. p. 3).

Prior to applying for a CWP, Appellant was subjected to a Federal Bureau of Investigation (hereinafter "FBI") background check during the process of purchasing a

handgun from a local firearms dealer. (R. p. 22, lines 4-21). Appellant was asked on the background check application whether he had been convicted of domestic violence. (R. p. 22, lines 23-25; R. p. 23, line). Appellant's application was flag for further scrutiny by the FBI during processing. (R. p. 23, lines 8-24). Appellant returned to the firearms dealer five (5) days later and was permitted to purchase a .40 caliber handgun. (R. pp. 23, lines 21-25; R. p. 24, lines 1-7).

Appellant presented to the local offices of the Bureau of Alcohol Tobacco Firearms and Explosives (hereinafter "ATF") and the FBI after his application for a CWP was denied by Respondent to seek affirmation that his purchase of a handgun was legal. (R. pp. 25-27). Appellant advised both ATF and FBI that he had a prior record of misdemeanor CDV and that he was in possession of a handgun he purchased from a firearms dealer. (Id.). No action was taken against Appellant by ATF or FBI to retrieve Appellant's handgun, or otherwise. (Id.).

#### ARGUMENT

The standard for reviewing an order of the Administrative Law Court is governed by Section 1-23-610(B). S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B). Section 1-23-610(B) holds in pertinent part:

(B) The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record.... The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

\*\*\*

(d) affected by other error or law;

(e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B). “The decision [of an administrative law court] must be affirmed if supported by substantial evidence in the record.” Coastal Conservation v. Dept. of Health, 669 S.E. 2d 899, 905, 390 S.C. 349 (S.C. App. 2008). “Substantial evidence is evidence that, when viewing the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the same conclusion the ALC (Administrative Law Court) arrived at in justifying its decision. Id.

I. THE ADMINSTRATIVE LAW COURT’S FINDING THAT APPELLANT FAILE TO SATISFY THE REQUIREMENTS FOR A CONCEALED WEAPONS PERMIT UNDER THE LAW ABIDING CITIZENS SELF-DEFENSE ACT OF 1996 IS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION AND ERROR OF LAW BECAUSE APPELLANT’S 1993 CONVICTION FOR CRIMINAL DOMESTIC VIOLENCE IS NOT A MISDEMEANOR CRIME OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE UNDER 18 U.S.C. 922(g)(9); THEREFORE, APPELLANT IS NOT DISQUALIFIED FROM POSSESSION A FIREARM UNDER FEDERAL LAW.

Subsection 922(g) (9) of the United States Code states in pertinent party that:

(g) It shall be unlawful for any person-

\*\*\*

(9) who has been convicted in any court of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence,

to ship or transport in interstate or foreign commerce, or possess in or affecting commerce, any firearm or ammunition; or to receive any firearm or ammunition which has been shipped or transported in interstate or foreign commerce.

18 U.S.C. § 922(g) (9). Subsection 921(33) (B) (i) defines what offenses constitute a “misdemeanor crime of domestic violence” and what offenses are excluded from inclusion under the firearms chapter of the United States Code of law. 18 U.S.C. §921(33) (B) (i). Subsection 921(33) (B) (i) states in pertinent part:

A person shall not be considered to have been convicted of ... [a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence] for purposes of this chapter, unless-

(I) the person was represented by counsel in the case, or knowingly and intelligently waived the right to counsel in the case; and

(II) in the case of a prosecution for an offense described in this paragraph for which a person was entitled to a jury trial in the jurisdiction in which the case was tried, either

(aa) the case was tried by a jury, or

(bb) the person knowingly and intelligently waived the right to have the case tried by a jury, by guilty plea or otherwise.

Appellant testified before the Administrative Law Court that his 1993 conviction for CDV in the Marion Municipal Court was accomplished without jury trial, and that he was not represented by legal counsel during the judicial process. (R. p. 20, lines 10-17 & R. pp. 36-37, lines 10-19). Appellant never appeared in court when his case was disposed the day after his arrest. (Id.). Plaintiff was never advised of his right to jury a trial and legal counsel, and did not understand that he could have challenged the CDV charge. (R. p. 32; R. p. 33, lines 1-8). Appellant's testimony was not contested by Respondent, nor contradicted by any other evidence or witness presented at the trial before the Administrative Law Court.

Appellant's 1993 conviction for criminal domestic violence is specifically excluded from the definition of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence. See, 18 U.S.C. §921(33) (B) (i). Therefore, appellant is not disqualified from possession a firearm under 18 U.S.C. § 922(g) (9) of federal law.

II. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT'S FINDING THAT APPELLANT FAILS TO SATISFY THE REQUIREMENTS FOR A CONCEALED WEAPONS PERMIT UNDER THE LAW ABIDING CITIZENS SELF-DEFENSE ACT OF 1996 IS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION AND ERROR OF

LAW, BECAUSE APPELLANT IS NOT DISQUALIFIED FROM POSSESSION A FIREARM UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW.

Section 23-31-215 of the CWP Act hold in pertinent part:

(A) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, except subject to subsection (B), SLED must issue a permit...to carry a concealed weapon to a resident or qualified nonresident who is at least twenty-one years of age and **who is not prohibited by state law form possession the weapon...**

S.C. Code Ann. § 23-31-215(A). Subsection 23-31-215(F) (1) of the CWP Act employs the same state law requirement: “(F) The permit application form shall require the applicant to certify that: (1) **he is not a person prohibited under state law from possessing a weapon...**” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-31-215(F) (1). Again, the same state law requirement is reinforced for the third time in subsection 23-31-215(J) (1) of the CWP Act: “(J) A permit is valid statewide unless revoke because the person has: (1) **become a person prohibited under state law from possessing a weapon...**” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-31-215(J) (1).

“The Cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain the legislative intent.” State v. Morgan, 352 S.C. 359, 365, 574 S.E. 2d 203 (S.C. App., 2002). “All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and the language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute.” Id. at 365-366. “The determination of legislative intent is a matter of law.” Id. “The legislative’s intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute.” Id. “Words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction which limits or expands the statute’s operation.” Id.

It is clear and unambiguous from the language of the CWP Act that the standard for issuing a CWP under the CWP Act is not whether an applicant is prohibited from possession a weapon under federal law, but under South Carolina law. The state law standard is reinforced throughout the Section 23-31-215 of the CWP Act. It must be assumed that if the legislature intended that issuance of a CWP under the CWP Act was conditioned upon the applicant being eligible to possession a firearm under the federal standard it would had simply stated so. To the contrary, the language of the CWP Act specifically limits the condition that an applicant for a CWP must be qualified to possession a weapon as determined by South Carolina law. If the requirement is extend to include the federal standard for possession a firearm, it would result in subtle and forced construction to expand the statute's operation.

The requirement for possession a handgun under South Carolina law is expressed in Subsection 16-23-30(A) of South Carolina law. Section 16-23-30(A) – (B) holds that:

(A) It is unlawful for a person to knowingly sell, offer to sell, deliver, lease, rent, barter, exchange, or transport for sale into this State any handgun to:

(1) a person who has been convicted of a crime of violence in any court of the United States, the several states, commonwealths, territories, possessions, or the District of Columbia or who is a fugitive from justice or a habitual drunkard or a drug addict or who has been adjudicated mentally incompetent;

\*\*\*

(B) It is unlawful for a person enumerated in subsection (A) to possess or acquire handguns within this State.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-30(A) – (B). South Carolina law expresses distinguishes violent crimes from nonviolent crimes the legislative degree. See, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-60; S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-70. Appellant's 1993 misdemeanor CDV is not a violent crime

under South Carolina law and would not disqualify Appellant from possession a handgun under South Carolina law. See, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-60; S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-70. Therefore appellant is a qualified person to possession a handgun under South Carolina law for purposes of obtaining a CWP.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, this Court should reverse the judgment of the Administrative Law Court and find that Applicant is entitled to a Concealed Weapons Permit Section 23-31-215 of South Carolina law.