ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

John D. McLeod, Administrative Law Judge

RECEIVED

MAR 28 2017

Appellate Case No.: 2017-000270
Trial Court Case No.: 2016-ALJ-20-0287-CC

SC Court of Appeals

Shawn Bethea, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Law Enforcement Division, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ADAM L. WHITSETT
General Counsel
South Carolina Law Enforcement Division
Post Office Box 21398
Columbia, South Carolina 29221-1398
Phone: (803) 896-0647

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **The trial court did not err in upholding Respondent's denial of the Appellant's concealed weapons permit ("CWP") application.**
- II. **The trial court did not err in ruling that Respondent can consider the applicable federal law in denying Appellant's CWP application.**
- III. **The Appellant abandoned his constitutional claim in this matter.**

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

The Appellant was convicted of criminal domestic violence in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20(1) in the Marion Municipal Court on May 17, 1993 (Tr. p. 24, line 2–p. 25, line 1)(R. pp. 28-29). The Incident Report for that incident, which was admitted into the record at the trial court, states that on May 16, 1993, law enforcement officers with the City of Marion Police Department responded to the Appellant's residence in reference to a call from the Appellant's wife indicating that she and the Appellant were involved in a domestic dispute. Incident Report (R. p. 99). Upon arrival, law enforcement noted that Appellant's wife had "a busted lip and a swollen nose" and that the Appellant's shirt was torn. *Id.* The Incident Report also indicates that the Appellant "stated he was upset when his wife came home drunk and pushed her down on the bed and they started fighting." *Id.* At the trial, the Appellant admitted to using physical force on his wife during this domestic violence incident. (Tr. p. 27, lines 10-20)(R. p. 27). The Marion Municipal Court "Disposition Sheet" indicates that the Petitioner was duly sentenced by the Marion Municipal Court to either the payment of a \$248.25 fine or the service of 30 days in jail for violating S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-0020(1). Disposition Sheet (R. p. 100). At the time of this conviction, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20 (1984) stated: "[i]t is unlawful to: (1) cause physical harm or injury to a person's own household member....".

Despite this conviction, the Appellant applied for a CWP from Respondent in 2009. However, this application was denied and the Appellant did not appeal this denial. (Tr. p. 48, line 19-p. 49, line 4)(R. pp. 52-53). Nevertheless, Appellant applied for a CWP again in 2016. After conducting the required state and federal background checks set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 23-31-215(B)(“215(B)”) on the Appellant, the Respondent denied Appellant’s application. The ground for this denial was the Petitioner’s conviction for criminal domestic violence in 1993, which conviction constitutes a prohibition to the Appellant’s ability to lawfully possess a firearm in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9).

Appellant appealed this decision internally to Respondent; however, this appeal was also denied. The ground for this denial was the same unfavorable federal background check based the Appellant’s conviction from criminal domestic violence.

Petitioner appealed this decision to the ALC and a contested case hearing followed. During this hearing, the Appellant offered two arguments in support of his case: 1.) that the Respondent is prohibited from applying the federal firearms prohibitions to deny South Carolina CWP applications (Tr. p. 4, line 18-p. 9 line 15)(R. pp. 8-13) and 2.) that Appellant’s guilty plea was unconstitutional based on Alabama v. Shelton, 535 U.S. 654, 122 S.Ct. 1764, 152 L.Ed.2d 888 (2002). (Tr. p. 77, line 16-Tr. p. 79, line 1)(R. pp. 81-83). Respondent’s decision was affirmed by the trial court. This appeal follows. Notably however, Appellant’s argument Number 1 set forth in the Initial Brief of Appellant was not raised in the lower court proceeding. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not err in upholding Respondent's denial of the Appellant's concealed weapons permit ("CWP") application.

The trial court was correct to uphold Respondent's denial of Appellant's CWP application based on the following.

As a threshold matter, the Appellant failed to properly preserve his argument number 1 on this issue as it was not raised to the trial court. "It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). South Carolina law is clear, "an appellant court cannot address an issue unless it was raised to, and ruled upon by, the trial court." Smith v. Phillips, 318 S.C. 453, 455, 458 S.E.2d 427, 429 (1995) (per curiam). This holds true for administrative appeals. Home Med. Sys., Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 382 S.C. 556, 562, 677 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2009) ("As in other appellate matters, we require issue preservation in administrative appeals"); Brown v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl Control, 348 S.C. 507, 519, 560 S.E.2d 410, 417 (2002) ("[I]ssues not raised to and ruled on by the agency are not preserved for judicial consideration.")

South Carolina jurisprudence regarding the requirements for issue preservation states, "[t]here are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity." State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing Jean Hoefler Toal et al., Appellate Practice in South Carolina, 57 (2d ed.2002)). In this instance, Appellant's current argument numbered 1 was absolutely not raised to the

trial court at all, much less raised with sufficient specificity, and was not ruled on by the trial court. *See generally* Transcript (R. pp. 5-97). Furthermore, South Carolina courts have repeatedly observed that “issue preservation rules ‘prevent... a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve—intentionally or by chance—in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case.’” Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 470, 719 S.E.2d 640, 645 (2011) (quoting I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 406, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000)). In this case, Appellant did not properly preserve his argument number 1 and this Court cannot entertain such argument.

Nevertheless, the trial court’s decision on this issue should be affirmed. There is no dispute that the Appellant was convicted of criminal domestic violence in 1993. (Tr. p. 24, line 2–p. 25, line 1)(R. pp. 28-29). There is also no dispute that the Appellant’s domestic violence conviction involved the Appellant using physical force on his spouse (i.e. a household member) and causing her physical injuries. (Tr. p. 27, lines 10-20)(R. p. 31). The responding law enforcement noted that the Appellant’s wife suffered “a busted lip and a swollen nose” as a result of the Appellant’s criminal acts. Incident Report (R. p. 99). For this conviction, the Appellant was duly sentenced by the Marion Municipal Court to either the payment of a \$248.25 fine or the service of 30 days in jail for violating S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-0020(1). The Appellant chose to resolve sentence by the payment of the fine. Disposition Sheet (R. p. 100). Based on this valid conviction of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence involving the use of force on a household member, the trial court correctly found that the Appellant is federally prohibited from possessing a firearm in accordance with 18 U.S.C.A. § 922(g)(9).

The trial testimony also indicated unequivocally that the Appellant has been entered into the Federal Bureau of Investigation's NICS Index Database as a result of this conviction and that this entry renders the Appellant federally prohibited from possessing a firearm. (Tr. p. 41, lines 2-13; p. 51, lines 4-12)(R. pp 45, 66). This entry is determinative in this matter. Furthermore, it is the jurisprudence of this State to afford agencies deference in interpreting the statutes and regulations that are applicable to the agency. See Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 411 S.C. 16, 32, 766 S.E.2d 707, 717 (2014); Brown v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 354 S.C. 436, 440, 581 S.E.2d 836, 838 (2003) ("We recognize the Court generally gives deference to an administrative agency's interpretation of an applicable statute or its own regulation.").

Moreover, the Appellant's assertions that he was able to purchase a weapon as evidence of the lack of a federal prohibition unavailing. Federal law authorizes federal firearms dealers to complete a "delayed" transaction if there has not been a denial of such transaction within three (3) business days. See 18 U.S.C.A § 922(t) (Tr. p. 37, line 13-p. 38, line 19)(R. pp. 41-42). This operation of federal law, which has been referred to as the "Charleston Loophole" because of its utilization by Dylan Roof, is not conclusive or persuasive evidence regarding the applicability of a federal firearms prohibition. Moreover, the testimony in this matter indicated that the entry in the NICS Index Database occurred after this purchase such that the same transaction would be denied outright if attempted today. (Tr. p. 41, lines 2-13; p. 51, lines 4-12)(R. pp 45, 66).

Similarly, the Appellant's assertion that because neither the FBI nor the ATF have arrested him or retrieved his firearm is of no consequence. It is axiomatic that neither of these nationwide law enforcement agencies has the manpower or the resources to retrieve

all illegally possessed firearms or to effectuate arrests regarding the same. As such, this argument is simply without merit.

Accordingly, because the record in this matter indicates that the Appellant does not have a favorable background check required for the issuance of a CWP in accordance with 215(B), the trial court was correct to affirm Respondent's denial of such. Therefore, the trial court's decision in this matter should be affirmed and upheld in its entirety.

II. The trial court did not err in ruling that Respondent can consider the applicable federal law in denying Appellant's CWP application.

The trial court correctly rejected Appellant's argument that SLED must issue a CWP to all individuals who are not prohibited solely by state law from possessing a weapon, regardless of whether or not the individual is prohibited from possessing a firearm by federal law or by the laws of any other state. Simply put this argument is completely without merit. South Carolina law, and more specifically, 215(B) mandates that SLED "conduct or facilitate a local, state, **and federal** fingerprint review of" all applicants for a South Carolina CWP. (emphasis added). Further, 215(B) requires SLED to issue a CWP if, **but only if**, the "fingerprint review and background check are favorable." It naturally follows that should **either** background check come back unfavorable, SLED must deny the application. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-31-215(B). It is axiomatic that a South Carolina fingerprint review will only reveal South Carolina state law arrests and convictions and that such a state-only review will not reveal any out-of-state or federal arrests or convictions, even those federal convictions occurring inside the State of South Carolina. In addition, it is no less evident that a federal fingerprint review will in fact reveal any and all such out-of-state and all federal arrests and convictions for an individual. Had the South Carolina Legislature ("Legislature") intended to limit SLED's analysis to state law arrests, convictions, and prohibitions only, as suggested by the Appellant, a South Carolina fingerprint review would be all that is necessary and mandated to accomplish such. In that instance, there would be no conceivable reason for SLED to conduct an additional federal fingerprint review as this would be a completely superfluous and unnecessary act. The South Carolina Supreme Court has long held that statutes must be read as a whole and must be construed so "that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered

surplusage, or superfluous.” State v. Sweat, 386 S.C. 339, 351, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010) (citing In re Decker, 322 S.C. 215, 219, 471 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1995)). Accordingly, there remains no viable purpose for SLED to conduct a federal fingerprint review unless the Legislature intended to incorporate the federal firearms prohibitions set forth 18 U.S.C.A. § 922 into the determination of a CWP. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 23-31-215(B).

Therefore, the Legislature’s requirement of a federal fingerprint review of all applicant’s for South Carolina CWPs evidences a clear and unambiguous intent to incorporate all of the federal firearms prohibitions set forth in 18 U.S.C.A. § 922 into Respondent’s determination as to whether an individual has a favorable background check for issuance of a CWP. To find otherwise would also lead to the manifestly absurd result that an individual committing a federally prohibiting felony offense in the State of Georgia would not be prohibited from receiving a South Carolina CWP when the same individual committing the same offense in South Carolina would be prohibited, so long as this offense was prosecuted in South Carolina’s state courts. Further, individuals committing federally prohibiting federal felonies would not be prohibited in South Carolina under any circumstances as such convictions would not result in state-law prohibitions. This cannot be. The jurisprudence of this State advises that “[c]ourts will reject a statutory interpretation which would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not have been intended by the Legislature or would defeat the plain legislative intention. State v. Sweat, 386 S.C. 339, 351, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010) (citing Unisun Ins. Co. v. Schmidt, 339 S.C. 362, 368, 529 S.E.2d 280, 283 (2000)). Requiring SLED to conduct a federal background check on all CWP applicants, yet prohibiting SLED from acting upon information acquired therefrom would clearly constitute an absurd result. Such a ruling

would also not comport with the subject matter and general purpose of South Carolina's CWP laws. See Hitachi Data Sys. Corp. v. Leatherman, 309 S.C. 174, 178, 420 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1992) ("In interpreting a statute, the language of the statute must be read in a sense which harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose."). As such, the trial court correctly held that Respondent must deny the CWP application for any individual who has an unfavorable background check, including all individuals federally prohibited from possessing a firearm in accordance with 18 U.S.C.A § 922, like the Appellant. Therefore, the trial court's decision should be affirmed and upheld in its entirety.

III. The Appellant abandoned his constitutional claim in this matter.